
 

 County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI (01785) 276147 

Please ask for Jonathan Lindop 
Email: jonathan.lindop@staffordshire.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
Countryside and Rights of Way Panel 
 
Friday, 6 March 2020 
11.00 am 

New Bremen Room, County Buildings, Martin Street, Stafford 
 
NB. Members are requested to ensure that their Laptops/Tablets are fully charged 
before the meeting 

 
John Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services 
27 February 2020 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
 

1.  Apologies  
   
2.  Declaration of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.2  
   
3.  Minutes of meeting held on 3 December 2019 (Pages 1 - 4) 
   
4.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application to Add 

a Byway Open to All Traffic from Harley Thorn Lane to Public 
Road Leading Underneath A519 

(Pages 5 - 76) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services   
   
5.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application to 

Upgrade Public Footpath No. 11 Heaton Parish to Restricted 
Byway Status 

(Pages 77 - 118) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services   
   



 
6.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application to Add 

a Public Footpath from the Junction of Footpaths Nos. 2, 3 & 4, 
Fradswell Parish to Fradswell Church 

(Pages 119 - 174) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services   
   
7.  Date of Next Meeting - 3 April 2020 at 10.00 am, County Buildings, 

Stafford 
 

   
8.  Exclusion of the Public  
   
 The Chairman to move:- 

 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) indicated below”. 
 

PART TWO 
(All reports in the section are exempt) 

 

   
9.  Options for Resolution of Issues on Bridleway No. 2 Salt and 

Enson Parishes 
(Pages 175 - 184) 

   
 (exemption paragraph 2, 6a and 6b) 

 
Exempt joint report of the Director of Corporate Services and  
Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Families and Communities 

 

   
10.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 Modification Orders 

- Update 
 

   
 (exemption paragraph 2, 6a and 6b) 

 
Exempt oral report of the Director of Corporate Services 

 

   
 
 

Membership 
 

David Brookes 
Alan Dudson 
Julia Jessel (Chairman) 
 

Paul Snape 
Mike Worthington 
 

 
Note for Members of the Press and Public 
 
Filming of Meetings 
 
The open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or 
other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have 



agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other 
purposes. 
 
Recording by Press and Public 
 
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted 
from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the Chairman, disrupt 
the meeting.  
 





- 1 - 
 

Minutes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Panel Meeting held on 3 December 
2019 

 
Present: Julia Jessel (Chairman) 

 

Attendance 
 

David Brookes 
Alan Dudson 
 

Paul Snape 
Mike Worthington 
 

 
 
 
PART ONE 
 
124. Declarations of Interest in Accordance with Standing Order 16.2 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest made. 
 
125. Minutes of meeting held on 8 November 2019 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 November 2019 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chairman. 
 
126. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application for a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to Add a Public Right of Way from Beaconside to Marston 
Lane, near Marstongate Farm, Hopton and Marston Parishes 
 
Prior to the Panel’s consideration of the report, the Director of Corporate Services 
informed them of a letter dated 2 December 2019 from Messrs Hill Dixon, Solicitors on 
behalf of their client Bolling Investments Limited setting out their objections to the 
application. Copies of the letter were handed around the table at the meeting for 
Members to read.  
 
The Director stated his view that the various points of objection raised in the above-
mentioned letter were already dealt with in his report. However, the Chairman sought 
the Panel’s views as to whether consideration of the application should be deferred 
pending further investigation/clarification and in response they expressed their wish for 
the application to be determined without further delay. 
 
The Panel then considered the report by the Director of Corporate Services regarding 
an application by Mr. M. Reay for a Modification Order under Section 53 of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 to add a Public Right of Way from Beaconside to Marston 
Lane, near Marstongate Farm, Hopton and Marston Parishes, Stafford to the County 
Council’s Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

- 2 - 
 

 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various legal, 
documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. The Director also made 
reference to case law which dealt with the weight to be given to the evidence and gave 
guidance on the legal tests which they should apply. In applying these tests, Members 
were made aware that they should examine the evidence in its totality. 
 
During their consideration of the application, Members had regard to the appendices 
attached to the report including:- (i) a copy of the application by Mr. M. Reay; (ii) a copy 
of a plan showing the alleged route; (iii) a traced copy of Marston Tithe Award Map 
dated 1839; (iv) a copy of Deposited Railway Plan Book of Reference dated 1844; (v) 
copies of Deposited Railway Plan Accompanying Maps dated 1844; (vi) copies of 
Deposited Railway Plan Accompanying Maps dated 1845; (vii) copies of Deposited 
Railway Plan Book of Reference dated 1845; (viii) copies of Landowner Questionnaires 
received from Mrs. Stubbs, Mr and Mrs. Baker and Mrs. Brandon; (ix) a copy of 
Planning Application Boundary; (x) a copy of a plan showing the new alleged route of 
the path; (xi) a copy of a letter from Mr. and Mrs. Brandon’s Solicitor dated 20 October 
2019 and; (xii) a copy of a letter of response by the County Council to Mr. and Mrs. 
Brandon’s Solicitor’s dated 18 November 2019. 
 
During his presentation, the Director addressed the points raised by Messrs Hill Dixon in 
turn paying particular attention to the (i) route of the alleged path; (ii) absence of 
evidence from either Stafford Borough Council, Marston Parish Council or users and; (ii) 
quality of the evidence provided by the Railway and Tithe documents. 
 
Following their detailed consideration of the application, the Panel decided that from the 
totality of the available evidence and the absence of conflicting evidence to refute the 
claim, the lesser test of ‘Reasonable Allegation’ as set out in paragraph 53(3)(c)(i) of the 
Act was met in that the alleged Right of Way was reasonably alleged to subsist. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That the evidence submitted by the applicant and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to conclude that a Public Footpath which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement is reasonably alleged to subsist along the route shown 
marked A to B to C to D on the plan attached at Appendix J to the report and should be 
added to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 
 
(c) That an Order be made to add the Right of Way shown on the plan attached at 
Appendix J to the report and marked A to B to C to D to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford as a Public Footpath.   

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

   
127. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application for a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to Add a Public Bridleway from Syerscote Lane to Public 
Bridleway No. 33, Clifton Campville Parish, Lichfield 
 
The Panel considered a report of the Director of Corporate Services regarding an 
application by Mr. M. Reay for a Modification Order under Section 53 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 to add a Public Bridleway from Syerscote Lane to Public 
Bridleway No. 33 Clifton Campville Parish, Lichfield to the County Council’s Definitive 
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way. 
 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various legal, 
documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. In applying these tests, 
Members were made aware that they should examine the evidence in its totality. 
 
During their consideration of the application, Members had regard to the appendices 
attached to the report including:- (i) a copy of the application; (ii) a copy of a plan 
showing the alleged route; (iii) a copy of Finance Act 1910 Field Book entry; (iv) a copy 
of 1902 Ordnance Survey Map; (v) a copy of 1838 Clifton Campville Tithe Map; (vi) a 
copy of a letter from Mr. Bainbridge dated 16 November 2013 and his User Evidence 
Forms; (vii) a copy of Mr. Bostock’s Landowner Evidence Form; (viii) copies of 
responses from consultees; (ix) copies of Ordnance Survey Maps; (x) copies of Parish 
Survey Cards and associated maps; (xi) a copy of a letter from Mr. Bostock’s solicitor 
dated 3 October 2014 and a copy of a letter from Mr. J. Cliffe dated 3 October 2014; (xii) 
a copy of the County Council’s letter to Mr. Bostock’s Solicitor dated 17 November 2014; 
(xiii) a copy of a letter from Mr. Bostock dated 25 November 2018; (xiv) a copy of a 
response received from Mr. Bainbridge dated 14 November 2019. 
 
In response to a request from the Chairman, the Director of Corporate Services clarified 
the location of points A to B on the plan attached at Appendix B to the report.   
 
Following their detailed consideration of the application, the Panel decided that from the 
totality of the available evidence and the absence of conflicting evidence to refute the 
claim, the lesser test of ‘Reasonable Allegation’ as set out in paragraph 53(3)(c)(i) of the 
Act was met in that the alleged Right of Way was reasonably alleged to subsist. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That the evidence submitted by the applicant and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to conclude that a Public Bridleway which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way is reasonably alleged to subsist  
along the route shown on the plan attached at Appendix B to the report and should be 
added to the Definitive Map and Statement as such. 
 
(c) That an Order be made to add the Public Right of Way shown marked A to B on the 
Plan attached at Appendix B to the report to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public 
Rights of Way for the District of Lichfield as a Public Bridleway. 
 

Chairman 

Page 3





 Page 1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel – 6 March 2020 

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Application for Definitive Map Modification Order to add a Byway Open to All 
Traffic from Harley Thorn Lane to Public Road leading underneath A519 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

Recommendation  

1 That the evidence submitted by the applicant is sufficient to conclude, that a 
Restricted Byway which is not shown on the Definitive Map and Statement, shown 
marked A to B on the plan attached at Appendix A to this report is reasonably 
alleged to subsist.  

2 That an order be made to add the alleged public right of way, shown A to B on the 
plan attached at Appendix A, to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights 
of Way as a Restricted Byway.  

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application (attached at Appendix B) from Mr Martin Reay for a 
Definitive Map Modification Order to modify the Definitive Map for the area by 
adding the Byway Open to All Traffic shown A-B on the Plan at Appendix A (the 
Application Route) to the Definitive Map. 

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

1. The applicant has submitted in support of his claim a copy of the 1910 Finance Act 
map which shows the entirety of the alleged route and can be found at appendix C 

2. The applicant submitted further evidence on 12 December 2000. A tracing of the 
Map of the Newcastle and Eccleshall Road line of improvement 1822 has been 
provided. Officer’s have obtained a clearer version of the map from the Councils 
records office, which can be found at appendix D.  

Local Members’ Interest 

Jeremy Pert  Eccleshall   

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 Page 2 

 

 

Other evidence discovered by the County Council  

3. Officers have conducted research into historical documentation at the County 
Council’s Record Office and obtained the following. 

4. Tithe Award Map of the Parish of Swynnerton 1849 which shows the entirety of the 
alleged route and is attached at appendix E. 

5. Tithe Award Map of the Township of Beech 1850. This shows near the entirety of 
the route and is attached at appendix F. 

6. Officers have also obtained several OS maps dating between 1878 And 1924 which 
also show the entirety of the alleged route and are attached at appendix G.  

 

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

7. On 19 March 1999 a letter was received from John German Chartered Surveyors 
who represented Lord Stafford’s Estates. The letter states that they are presently 
researching the position. They state that the lane referred to had been blocked for 
many years until Lord Stafford’s Estates cleared the road in October 1998. They 
also dispute that the road should be classed as a BOAT.  

 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

8. The North Staffordshire Bridleways Association have responded and enclosed 
several evidence forms in support of the application. These are attached at 
Appendix H. They do not form part of the original application from Mr Reay however 
they have been considered as part of the report.  

 

Comments on evidence  

Finance Act 1910 

9. The 1910 Act provided for the levying of tax (‘Increment Value Duty’) on the 
increase in site value of land between its valuation as at 30 April 1909 and, 
broadly speaking, its subsequent sale or other transfer. There was a complex 
system for calculating the ‘assessable site value’ of land, which allowed for 
deductions for, among other things, the amount by which the gross value would be 
diminished if the land were sold subject to any fixed charges and to any public 
rights of way or any public rights of user and to the right of common and to any 
easements affecting the land (Section 25(3)).  

10. Harley Lane is shown as being separate from the surrounding land holdings and is 
not included in any plot.  

11. Evidence of the possible existence of a public right of way in Finance Act 
documentation usually arises in one of two ways; reference to it in one or more of 
the various documents forming part of the valuation process, or exclusion of a 
route from the assessable parcels of land shown on the map record.  

12. As the parcel of land is shown on the map as being separate from the surrounding 
land there is a possibility that the landowners may not have declared the land as 
they may have assumed the land was not under their ownership or it was a private 
way.  

13. Furthermore, there were penalties for making false representations or statements. 
If found liable for the above the person(s) could have received a summary 
conviction to imprisonment for a term not exceeding six months.  

Page 6



 Page 3 

 

14. The Finance Act 1910 used contemporary OS maps from that period. The 
supporting maps may show the existence of a route at the time however they 
show nothing more. Public rights of way cannot be inferred from the 
accompanying maps alone. The purpose of the map was not to record rights of 
way, but to allot the land.  

 

Ordinance Survey Maps 

15. Ordinance Survey Maps provide excellent evidence of the physical existence of 
the features they show at the time of their survey, but they are generally silent on 
matters of status. From the 1880’s onwards the maps included a disclaimer to the 
effect that the depiction of any path, track or way is not evidence of the existence 
of any public rights of way. In Moser v Ambleside Urban District Council (1925) 89 
JP 118 at 119, Pollock MR stated: “If the proper rule applicable to ordinance maps 
is to be applied, it seems to me that those maps are not indicative of the rights of 
the parties, they are only indicative of what are the physical qualities of the area 
which they delineate......”. 

16. The alleged route is consistently depicted and named on a range of Ordnance 
Survey County plans from the 1880’s to 1924. This is not surprising given that it is 
shown on earlier documents and still exists in physical form today. 

17. Although the route is named on various maps as Harley Lane, this does not infer 
any public status only its reputation as a local route in the area.  

18. The OS maps obtained by Officers do show evidence that a route existed. However, 
as set out above the maps do not distinguish between public and private rights of 
way. All of the OS maps should therefore be viewed in conjunction with all other 
supporting evidence.  

 

Map of the Newcastle under Lyme and Eccleshall Road 

19. The applicant has also provided a tracing of the Newcastle under Lyme and 
Eccleshall Road.  

20. The map displays the ‘present’ line of the route which is how the route lay in 1822. 
The proposed line of improvement coloured red and this is the how the road lies 
today, which is the A519. There is no evidence to suggest that the route was ever 
stopped up or diverted, conversely there is no evidence to suggest that it wasn’t.  

21. Although the map shows no indication of the status of the route it does show that 
Harley Lane once formed part of the highway. The plan was brought to fruition as 
evidenced by the existence of the road today. It is not known whether the route 
was originally public or private before the construction of the new road.  

22. Although the ‘yellow line’ on the map shows where the original route lay it does not 
infer any pubic rights of way. Only assumptions can be made as to whether the 
route was public or private.   

23. The document is dated 1822 which pre-dates the 1835 Highways Act. Before 1835 
a landowner could dedicate a road as a public right of way, and it would 
automatically become the liability of the public to repair it. Under the 1835 
Highways Act, if a landowner proposed to dedicate a road as a public highway 
then notice would have to be given to the Surveyor of the Highways.  

24. The route was a connection between Newcastle and Eccleshall. It was a link 
between two market towns and would fit the kind o route set out in the 1773 
Highways Act. It is therefore more likely to have been public in nature although 

Page 7



 Page 4 

 

who was liable to maintain it in 1822 is not certain. After 1835 it would have 
become maintainable at public expense by virtue of pre-existing the statute.   

 

Tithe Maps 

25. Tithe maps and their accompanying apportionments (books of reference) were 
produced for the purposes of commuting tithes from a payment in goods to a 
monetary value. They were not concerned with matters such as the status of roads 
etc, only whether or not the land was productive and therefore subject to tithe 
payments. They do however provide some of the earliest accurate large-scale 
mapping and can provide very good evidence of the physical existence of a route. 

26. The route in question is coloured sienna on the Tithe maps. The colouring of a 
road (usually sienna) on a tithe map is not, in itself good evidence of public rights. 
It is therefore important to establish whether there is a key or other information in 
the tithe documents which provides an explanation. However, in this instance the 
absence of such an explanation and any other corroborative evidence, the 
colouring is arguably of little evidential value in itself.  

27. The Tithe Maps themselves would not support a modification to the Definitive Map 
and Statement and must be looked at in conjunction with other available evidence.  

 

User evidence 

28. User evidence can form the basis of an application to register a public right of way 
without the need for any reference to historical documentary evidence. Such user 
evidence would however need to be of sufficient quality and quantity to give rise to 
a presumption of dedication. However, when modern-day user evidence is 
considered alongside historical evidence it may be considered to constitute 
evidence of the reputation of existing (albeit unrecorded) public rights. 

29. The relevant legislation states that where there is no identifiable event which has 
brought into question the use of way, Section 31(7B) of the Highways Act 1980 (as 
amended by Section 69 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006) provides that the date of an application for a modification order under 
Section 53 can be used as the date at which the publics use was brought into 
question.  

30. In this instance the application was made in 1999 and that action brought the 
status of the claimed route into question. There is no evidence of any earlier 
challenge and so in evaluating the evidence of use any that took place must be 
confined to before 1999.  

31. The optimum period of usage for the purposes of the 20-year period as provided 
for under s31 of the Highways Act 1980 is from 1979 – 1999.  

32. The evidence must be consistent and not contradictory. There may be minor 
inconsistencies which do not have a detrimental effect on the overall evidence. 

33. From the eight user evidence forms only four indicate that they have used the route 
by horse and carriage. All of the eight user evidence forms claim usage on 
horseback. One user claims to have used the way on foot and none of the users 
indicate use by a mechanically propelled vehicle.  

34. No user states that they have ever been given permission to use the route and there 
have never been any stiles or gates blocking the way and there is no indication of 
any signs or notices prohibiting usage of the route.  

Page 8



 Page 5 

 

35. Out of the eight user evidence forms, two have the requisite 20 years usage. Firstly, 
Mrs Eld has used the route for 39 years on horseback and Mrs Knowe has used the 
route for 25 years on horseback and on foot.  

36. When individually assessed, the remaining six user evidence forms do not indicate 
use of the alleged route for over 20 years. However, two or more users’ evidence 
which overlaps may also be combined to produce a cumulative effect of usage over 
a 20-year period.  

37. In effect, another user can be created when combining more than one of the user 
evidence forms. Mrs Williams claims 3 years usage on horseback, Mrs Wilson 
claims 10 years usage on horseback and Mrs Farrington claims 7 years of use on 
horseback and horse and carriage. When combined the period of use totals 20 
years.  

38. Mr Seabridge claims 10 years of use on horseback and horse and carriage, Mrs 
Seabridge claims 6 years of use on horseback and horse and carriage and Mr 
Farrington claims 7 years of use also on horse and horse and carriage. When 
combined, the period of use totals 23 years.  

39. Therefore, there are four periods of qualifying usage which meet the requisite 20-
year period of use. There is no statutory minimum number of users required to show 
sufficient use to raise a presumption of dedication. Instead use should have been by 
a sufficient number of people to show that it was used by ‘the public’ and this may 
vary from case to case. There have been instances where the Secretary of State 
has accepted evidence of use from as few as six persons to substantiate the 
existence of a way.  

40. The forms appear to be consistent with one another. All users indicate travelling 
along the same route and many considered the route to be a continuation of Harley 
Thorn Lane running all the way to the A519. However, there are discrepancies in 
respect of how the route has been used.  

41. There does not appear to be any evidence to support the status of a BOAT; no user 
has claimed use by mechanically propelled vehicle. There are also only four of the 
eight user evidence forms which state that they have used the route by horse and 
carriage.  

42. There is however, evidence to suggest that the route would support the existence of 
a restricted byway or bridleway as all of the users indicate usage on horseback and 
several on horse and carriage. There are two individual 20-year periods of use, and 
a further two periods of over 20 years usage (when the remaining user evidence is 
combined) 

43. Although there are a small number of user evidence forms, they must be 
considered as part of the decision-making process.  

 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

44. There are two separate tests. For the first test to be satisfied, it will be necessary 
to show that on the balance of probabilities the right of way does exist. 

45. For the second test to be satisfied, the question is whether a reasonable person 
could reasonably allege a right of way exists having considered all the relevant 
evidence available to the Council. The evidence necessary to establish a right of 
way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must be less than that 
which is necessary to establish the right of way “does subsist”. 
 

46. If a conclusion is reached that either test is satisfied, then the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be modified. 

Page 9



 Page 6 

 

 

Summary 

47. The application is made under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act, relying on the 
occurrence of the event specified in 53(3)(c)(i) of the Act. 

 
48. The application is for the status of a Byway Open to All Traffic which is defined in 

Section 66(1) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as highway “over which the 
public have a right of way for vehicular and all other kinds of traffic, but which is 
used by the public mainly for the purposes for which footpaths and bridleways are 
so used”. 

 
49. Under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC) 

subsection (1), restrictions have been placed on the recording of public rights of 
way for mechanically propelled vehicles on the Definitive Map and Statement. 
However, this is applicable to those applications for a BOAT after 2006.  

 
50. Section 67 of the NERC Act subsections (2) to (8) provides exceptions to the 

extinguishment of certain unrecorded rights of way for mechanically propelled 
vehicles. One exception is if, before the ‘relevant date’ (subsection (4), 20th 
January 2005), an application had been made for the Definitive Map Modification 
Order to show a Byway Open to All Traffic, subsection (3)(a). This application was 
made before the ‘relevant date’ and consequently this exception could apply. 

 
51. The Planning Inspectorate’s Consistency Guidelines quote Christine Willmore 

when dealing with old maps: "What is looked for is a general picture of whether the 
route seemed important enough to get into these documents fairly regularly. A 
one-off appearance could be an error ... consistent depiction over a number of 
years is a positive indication."  

 
52. In Fortune v Wiltshire the Courts approved this approach, and what is looked for is 

just that, the various pieces of evidence are analogous to parts of a jigsaw and all 
the material needs to be considered together to come to a clear 
picture/conclusion.   

53. The Finance Act 1910 Map shows that the lane was part of a separate parcel of 
land however without any other supporting evidence one can only make 
assumptions as to whether or not the way is public or private. The map therefore 
only shows the physical existence of a route at the time.         

54. The alleged route is shown on several OS maps from the late 19th Century and 
early 20th Century. The maps show only that there was a physical feature which 
existed at the time, but they do not provide evidence of public rights of way. They 
simply show that a route existed at this location however one cannot ascertain if 
the route was public or private in nature.                                                                                                                                               

55. The Map of the Newcastle and Eccleshall Road proposed line of improvement 
from 1822 shows the present line of the road at the time and the new proposed 
route. The map infers no public rights of way over the alleged route. It only shows 
that it existed as a physical feature on the land in 1822.  

56. This route would have been a main highway and, if public, would have carried 
higher rights than that of a footpath or bridleway. The reason for the line of 
improvement is hard to establish from the passage of time but clearly it was 
intended to remove the bend and straighten the road out.  

57. The alleged route is also shown on Tithe maps for the area however, they do not 
provide any commentary of the status of the route, and any brown colouring is not 

Page 10



 Page 7 

 

indicative of highway status, it simply indicates that it was not subject to tithe (i.e. it 
was non-productive land).  

58. The user evidence forms indicate that the route is in use by the public. The user 
evidence shows that the route has been used by foot, horseback and horse and 
carriage. While there is not a high volume of evidence forms the quality of them is 
sufficient to advocate that the route has the status of a public nature, particularly 
that of a bridleway.  As in the case of Bagshaw v Norton, once all of the available 
evidence has been considered, and if there is no evidence to put in the balance 
against the case to add a route, then a reasonable allegation is made out. 

59. When the totality of the evidence is considered it does not suggest a picture of a 
route that has the status of a BOAT. There is no evidence to suggest use by 
mechanically propelled vehicles and there is nothing other than physical features 
which predominate the evidence or inference to suggest status of the way. 
However, when the evidence is considered in its totality, including the user 
evidence forms, then it is reasonable to allege that a route with the status of a 
Restricted Byway subsists. Historically, the route was used more in line with that of 
a Restricted Byway rather than a BOAT.  

60. The category of Restricted Byway was introduced under the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000. The application pre-dates this legislation and it could be a 
reason why a route with the status of a BOAT was applied for.    

 

Conclusion  

61. In determining the Application, the Panel must be satisfied that, on balance of 
probability, the alleged public rights subsist, or if this test is not met, that there is a 
reasonable allegation in favour of the existence of the public right of way.  

62. When all available evidence is considered it is finely balanced as to whether it 
would satisfy the first part of the test as set out in s53(3)(c)(i), that is whether on 
the balance of probabilities a BOAT subsists.  

63. Upon deliberation of the available evidence Officers consider that there is not a 
sufficient weighting of evidence to satisfy either of the above tests in respect of the 
status of a BOAT.  

64. However, after consideration of all the available evidence, it is your Officers 
opinion that a route which is not shown on the map and statement, with the status 
of a Restricted Byway, is reasonably alleged to subsist.      

65. It is the Panel’s decision as to whether a modification to the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be made based upon the totality of the evidence. However, the 
Panel can determine a route which differs from the original application i.e. to add a 
right of way of a different status than that applies for such as a Restricted Byway 
instead of a BOAT.  

Recommended Option 

66. To make an order to add the claimed route as a Restricted Byway to the Definitive 
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford.  

Other options Available 

67. To decide to accept the application to add the application route as a BOAT.  

68. To decide to reject the application  

Legal Implications 

69. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

Page 11



 Page 8 

 

 

Resource and Financial Implications  

70. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

71. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High Court 
for Judicial Review.  

 

Risk Implications  

1. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under Section 14 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. The Secretary of State would appoint an Inspector to 
consider the matter afresh, including any representations or previously 
unconsidered evidence. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision 
and confirm the Order; however, there is always a risk that an Inspector may 
decide that the County Council should not have made the Order and decide not to 
confirm it.   

2. If the Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it 
may still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

3. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision to the Secretary of State who will follow a similar process to that outlined 
above. After consideration by an Inspector the County Council could be directed to 
make an Order.   

4. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened.  

5. There are no additional risk implications.  

Equal Opportunity Implications  

6. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services  

Report Author: Dale Garside-Chell 

Ext. No: 276747 

Background File: LH639G 

Page 12



 Page 9 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Plan of claimed route  

Appendix B Copy of application  

Appendix C Copy of 1910 Finance Act Map for the area 

of Beech 

Appendix D Map of the Newcastle and Eccleshall Road 

Proposed Line of improvement  

Appendix E Tithe Award Map of the Parish of 

Swynnerton 1849 

Appendix F Tithe Award map of the Township of Beech 

1850 

Appendix G  Ordinance Survey Maps  

Appendix H  User evidence forms  

   

  

 

Page 13





A

B

Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. OS
100030994., Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right
2018

© Crown Copyr ight and database rights 2020.
Ordnance Survey  100031282.

2000 Aerial Photography by UKPerspectiv es.com.
License Number  UKP/048/SCC.

2010 Aerial photography copyright Getmapping (2006-10).
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute

or sell any form of this data to th ird parties in any  f orm.
Produced by Staffordshire County  Council 24/01/2020.

Section 53
Parishes
County
Electoral
Divisions

0 0.025 0.05 0.075 0.1 Kilometres

Staffordshire County Council Map
Staffordshire County Council

P
age 15





Page 17



Page 18



Page 19





Page 21





P
age 23





Page 25





Page 27





Page 29





Page 31





Page 33





Page 35





Page 37





 

OS Map 1879 – 25 inch to 1 mile  

P
age 39



 

OS Map 1879 – 25 inch to 1 mile  

 

 

 

P
age 40



 

OS Map 1879 – 6 inch to 1 mile  

 

P
age 41



 

OS Map 1879 – 6 inch to 1 mile  

 

 

 

P
age 42



 

OS Map 1901 (revised version) – 25 inch to 1 mile  

 

 

P
age 43



 

OS Map 1922 (revised) – 25 inch to 1 mile  

P
age 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71





Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



 Page 1 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel – 6 March 2020 

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Application to upgrade Footpath 11 in Heaton Parish to a Restricted Byway 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

Recommendation 

1. That the evidence submitted by the applicants and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to show that, on a balance of probabilities, FP 11 should be 
added as a highway of a different description, namely a restricted byway to the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of 
Staffordshire Moorlands. 

2. That an Order be made under Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by upgrading public Footpath 
11 Heaton Parish to a restricted byway along the route shown between points A to 
B on the plan attached at Appendix B. 

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application attached at Appendix A from Julie Turner of the 
Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways for an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement for the District of Staffordshire Moorlands. The effect of such an Order, 
should the application be successful, would: 

(i) upgrade footpath 11 Heaton Parish to a restricted byway on the Definitive 
Maps of Public Rights of Way under the provisions of Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

(ii) The lines of the alleged restricted byway which are the subject of the 
application are shown highlighted and marked A – B on the plan attached as 
Appendix B. 

Local Members’ Interest 

Gill Heath Staffordshire Moorlands – Leek Rural 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



 Page 2 

 

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

1. In support of the application the applicant submitted a copy of Heaton Inclosure 
Award for Beard Mill Road, Inclosure Award Map (Plan 1) and a copy of the 
Definitive Map. 

 

Documentary Evidence  

Heaton Inclosure Award Map and Statement   

2. Inclosure Awards are legal documents that usually consist of a written description of 
the awards and other content with a map of an area attached. 

3. Awards resulted from a desire by the landowners to gather together their lands and 
fence in the common land. A Local Act of Parliament was needed to authorise the 
procedure and an Inclosure Commissioner was appointed as a result to oversee the 
compilation of the award and map. 

4. Land was divided into individual plots and fields and redistributed amongst the 
owners listed in the award. 

5. Inclosure Awards provide statutory evidence of the existence of certain types of 
highway. They enabled public rights of way to be created as necessary, confirmed 
and endorsed and occasionally stopped up provided they had the power to do so. 

6. Inclosure Commissioners surveyed land that was to be enclosed and had the power 
to ‘set out and appoint public and private roads and paths that were often situated 
over existing ancient ways. A copy of the Heaton Inclosure Award and Statement 
can be found at Appendix C. 

      

Other evidence discovered by the County Council  

7. Officers have conducted research into historical documentation at the County 
Council’s Record Office. 

8. The Parish Survey Cards were discovered and after officers examined the cards it 
was found that the alleged route was formerly a RUPP (Road Used as a Public 
Path). Copies can be found at Appendix D. 

9. A RUPP was one of the three types of public right of way (along with footpaths and 
bridleways) introduced by the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949.  

10. The Countryside Act 1968 required all highway authorities to reclassify RUPP’s in 
their area, initially as public footpaths unless public vehicular rights were 
demonstrated to exist in which case it would become a Byway Open to All Traffic 
(BOAT). 

11. In Staffordshire the County Council had already undertaken a review into the 
reclassification of RUPPs and as this was advanced the Council applied to the 
Secretary of State for permission to conclude the exercise. After a number of 
public inquiries which continued into the 1980’s the review was concluded and a 
new Definitive Map and Statement for the various districts issued which included 
all the changes to the routes that had previously been classified as RUPPs.               

Page 78



 Page 3 

 

12. As the council cannot undertake another RUPP reclassification the correct approach 
to determining whether a route has bridleway or higher rights is to consider the 
matter under the provisions of s53 of the 1981 Act and evaluate all the available 
evidence. Reliance cannot be placed solely upon the fact a route once had the 
status of a RUPP to prove higher rights exist.  

 

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

13. Miss Kathleen Bellfield of Whiteshaw Farm considers the route to be public. She 
describes the route as either a footpath, bridleway or restricted byway. She claims 
to have seen people using the way on foot, horse and bike on a daily basis. She 
also states there are two stiles and two gates on the claimed route, however also 
states there are no other obstructions. She has given permission to running clubs 
and charity rides. She finally concludes with the route was formerly a RUPP and 
was downgraded to a footpath. A copy can be found at Appendix E. 

14. Mr Keith Tideswell of Hawksley Farm also considers the route to be public as a 
bridleway. He has seen people on foot and horseback on a weekly basis. He states 
he has not given anyone permission to use the claimed route. He further states 
there are no stiles on the route however there are gates. He concludes with there 
are no obstructions on the route. A copy can be found at Appendix F. 

15. No other landowner who was consulted have responded to the application. 

 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

16. Heaton Parish Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council were consulted 
regarding the application; however, we have not received any response to support 
or refute the application to date. 

 
Comments on Evidence - Documentary Evidence 

 

Heaton Inclosure Award and Statement 1820 

17. The Heaton Inclosure award again shows the claimed route in its entirety. A copy 
of the Inclosure Award and Statement can be found at Appendix C. 

18. When considering an award, the wording, powers and context all must be taken 
into consideration to determine its evidential value.  

19. The terms of the relevant act were considered to establish the extent of the 
Commissioner’s powers in relation to highways and other roads. If the awarded 
highway in question does not fall within the scope of those powers, it should be 
regarded as ultra vires.  

20. In this case the Inclosure Award makes reference to the 1801 General Inclosure 
Act which sets out the powers of stopping up, diverting and the setting out of 
highways by the Commissioners. 

21. The Award lists Bearda Mill Road as a ‘Public Carriage Road, 30 Feet Wide’. The 
applicant transcribes the Award as ‘From the north easterly and of the lane leading 
from the Macclesfield Old Road on Rudyard Moor in its present or north easterly 
and northernly direction over Heaton Common into the southern end of Jaggers 
Lane, and from there continuing in its present or northernly and north westerly 
direction down the said Jaggers Lane to Beard Mill Road and leading towards 
Dane Bridge and Winkle’. 

Page 79



 Page 4 

 

22. The Highway Act 1773 was in force at the time the Inclosure Award was drafted, 
accordingly section XV states ‘ And be it further enacted, that the said Surveyors 
of the Highways shall, and they are hereby required to make, support and 
maintain, or cause to be made, supported and maintained, every public Cartway 
leading to any Market Town, twenty feet wide at the least and every public 
Horseway or Driftway, eight feet wide at the least, if the ground between the 
fences inclosing the same will admit thereof’. This was further endorsed in the 
Highway Act 1835 in section LXXX. 

23. In the Inclosure Award, the Commissioners appointed stated that the ‘Public 
Carriage Road’ to be 30 feet wide. While the 1773 Act stipulated 20 feet wide it 
also said no vegetation etc. to be present within 15 feet of the centre line, add the 
two together and you have 30 feet. 

24. It can be assumed they intended for the claimed route to be used as a main public 
carriageway leading to and from various Market Towns. 

25. In current terms a ‘Public Carriage Road’ would indicate a road used by motor 
vehicles. And so, the claimed route could have higher rights than a restricted 
byway; it may perhaps be a byway open to all traffic (BOAT). 

26. In December 2003 the Government carried out a review of its policy on the use of 
motor vehicles on rights of way and published a consultation paper titled “Use of 
mechanically propelled vehicles on rights of way”.  

27. The main proposal in the consultation was to limit the basis on which rights of way 
for mechanically propelled vehicles may be acquired and end the situation 
whereby historic use by non-mechanically propelled vehicles, such as horse-
drawn vehicles, can give rise to a right of use by modern mechanically propelled 
vehicles. The consultation document sets out the rationale for this. 

28. In January 2005 the Government published a document titled “The Government’s 
framework for action”. In this document it sets out the intention to legislate to limit 
claims for vehicular rights, where those claims derive from historic use and 
dedication for use by non-mechanically propelled vehicles. These proposals now 
form the basis of Part 6 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006 (NERC). 

29. The effect of NERC is to extinguish vehicular rights of way on commencement of 2 
May 2006, subject to certain exceptions, including the date of the application and 
date of the determination. 

30. It is appropriate firstly to determine whether vehicular rights subsist and secondly, 
whether any exceptions apply. If vehicular rights subsist but the exceptions do not 
apply, then the appropriate status is a restricted byway. 

31. The exceptions are contained in section 67, subsections (2) to (8) of the NERC 
Act. Any route that qualifies under any one, or more, of these exceptions would not 
have its public rights of way for mechanically propelled vehicles extinguished. In 
this case none of the exceptions do apply. And so, accordingly the alleged route 
cannot be a BOAT. 

 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

32. Regarding the status of the routes, the burden is on the applicants to show, on the 
balance of probabilities, that it is more likely than not, that the Definitive Map and 
Statement are wrong.  The existing classification of the routes, as footpaths, must 
remain unless and until the Panel is of the view that the Definitive Map and 
Statement are wrong.  If the evidence is evenly balanced, then the existing 

Page 80



 Page 5 

 

classification of the routes as a footpath on the Definitive Map and Statement 
prevails. 

 

Summary  

33. The application is made under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act, relying on the 
occurrence of the event specified in 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Act.  Therefore, the Panel 
need to be satisfied that, on the balance of probabilities, the evidence that has been 
discovered shows that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of 
a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different 
description. 

34. The Heaton Inclosure Award shows the alleged route in its entirety. It confirms the 
Commissioners had the powers to set out highways, referring to the 1801 General 
Inclosure Act. 

35. Bearda Mill Road is listed as a ‘Public Road, 30 feet wide’.  

36. The Highway Act 1773 was in force at the time the Inclosure Award was drafted. It 
stated that ‘the said Surveyors of the Highways shall, and they are hereby required 
to make, support and maintain, or cause to be made, supported and maintained, 
every public Cartway leading to any Market Town, twenty feet wide at the least and 
every public Horseway or Driftway, eight feet wide at the least, if the ground 
between the fences inclosing the same will admit thereof’. 

37. It can be presumed they intended for the claimed route to be used as a main public 
carriageway leading to and from various Market Towns. 

38. In present terms a ‘Public Carriage Road’ would show a road used by motor 
vehicles. And so, the claimed route could have higher rights than a restricted 
byway; it may possibly be a byway open to all traffic (BOAT). 

39. In deciding whether the alleged route is a BOAT the exceptions in the NERC Act 
must be given consideration. In this instance none of the exceptions do apply and 
so the route evidently is a restricted byway. 

 

Conclusion  

40. Considering the evidence as a whole, it is your officer’s opinion that the evidence 
shows that a public right of way, with the status of a restricted byway, which is not 
shown on the map and statement subsists. 

41. It is the opinion of your officers that the County Council ought to make a 
Modification Order to add the restricted byway which is the subject of this 
application to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the 
District of Staffordshire Moorlands Council. 

 

Recommended Option 

42. To accept the application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 
outlined above. 

 

 

Other options Available 

43. To decide to reject the application to upgrade the footpath to a restricted byway. 

 

Page 81



 Page 6 

 

Legal Implications 

44. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

 

Resource and Financial Implications  

45. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

46. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High Court 
for Judicial Review. 

 

Risk Implications  

47. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act. The Secretary of State 
would appoint an Inspector to consider the matter afresh, including any 
representations or previously unconsidered evidence.  

48. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision and confirm the Order; 
however, there is always a risk that an Inspector may decide that the County 
Council should not have made the Order and decide not to confirm it.  If the 
Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order, it may still 
be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

49. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act to the Secretary of State who will follow 
a similar process to that outlined above. After consideration by an Inspector the 
County Council could be directed to make an Order.   

50. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk implications.  

+ 

Equal Opportunity Implications  

51. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

_____________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services 

Report Author: Samantha Finney 

Ext. No:  

Background File: LV602G 

Page 82



 Page 7 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Copy of application and associated 
submitted letters and documents 

Appendix B Plan of claimed route  

Appendix C Heaton Enclosure Award Map and 
Statement   

Appendix D Parish Survey Cards 

Appendix E Landowner Evidence Form of Miss 
Kathleen Bellfield 

Appendix F Landowner Evidence Form of Mr Keith 
Tideswell 

 

Page 83





APPENDIX A

Page 85



APPENDIX A

Page 86



APPENDIX A

Page 87





Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. OS 100030994., Ordnance Survey data ©
Crown copyright and database right 2018

© Crown Copyr ight and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey  100031282.

2000 Aerial Photography by UKPerspectiv es.com.
License Number  UKP/048/SCC.

2010 Aerial photography copyright Getmapping (2006-10).
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute

or sell any form of this data to th ird parties in any  f orm.
Produced by Staffordshire County  Council 31/10/2019.

Section 53
Parishes

0 0.055 0.11 0.165 0.22 Kilometres

Staffordshire County Council Map

A

B

APPENDIX B

P
age 89





APPENDIX C

P
age 91





APPENDIX C

P
age 93





APPENDIX C

P
age 95





APPENDIX C

Page 97





APPENDIX D

Page 99





APPENDIX D

Page 101





APPENDIX D

Page 103





APPENDIX E

Page 105

sfinn3sc
Highlight

sfinn3sc_1
Highlight

sfinn3sc_2
Highlight



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



APPENDIX F

Page 111

sfinn3sc_3
Highlight

sfinn3sc_4
Highlight

sfinn3sc_5
Highlight



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



 

 

Bentleys Barn 
Back Lane 

Calton 
Stoke on Trent 

ST10 3JX 
 

18 February 2020 
 

Ms S Finney 
Staffordshire Legal Services 
Staffordshire County Council 
2 Staffordshire Place 
Tipping Street 
Stafford 
ST16 2DH 
 
Your Ref: LV602G 
 
Dear Ms Finney 
 
Upgrading of Public Footpath No. 11 Heaton Parish 
 
Thank you for you letter of 30 January 2020 enclosing a copy of the report for the above 
application which is to be considered by the County Council’s Countryside and Rights of 
Way Panel at their meeting on 6 March 2020. 
 
My comments are as follows: 
 
1.  Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways Group are pleased that the report recommends 

that Heaton Parish Public Footpath No. 11 should be added as a restricted byway to 
the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of 
Staffordshire Moorlands.  The irrefutable evidence contained in the Heaton Inclosure 
Map and Statement that this route is a “Public Carriage Road, 30 Feet Wide” accords 
with the recommendation. 

 
2.  I am concerned that the statement in Paragraph 10 of the report is incorrect.  The 
report states “The Countryside Act 1968 required all highway authorities to reclassify 
RUPP’s in their area, initially as public footpaths unless public vehicular rights were 
demonstrated to exist in which case it would become a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT). 
 
Section 9(1) of the Countryside Act 1968 states  
 
“In the special review the draft revision, and the definitive map and statement shall 
show every road used as a public path by one of the three following descriptions 
 
a) a “byway open to all traffic” 
b) a “bridleway” 
c) a “footpath” 
 
and shall not employ the expression ‘road used as a public path” to describe any 
way” 
 

Page 117



 

 

Can you please correct the report accordingly. 
 
Can you please confirm that this letter will be placed in front of the CROW Panel for their 
information. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

Julie Turner 

 
 
Julie Turner 
Rights of Way Officer 
Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways Group 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 Page 1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel – 6 March 2020 

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Application for alleged footpath from the junction of FP2, FP3 & FP4, Fradswell to 
Fradswell Church 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

Recommendation 

1. That the evidence submitted by the applicants and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to conclude that a public footpath which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement is reasonably alleged to subsist along the route 
shown A-B-C on the plan attached at Appendix B to this report and should be 
added to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 

2. That an Order be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the plan attached 
at Appendix A and marked A-B-C to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public 
Rights of Way for the District of Stafford. 

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application attached at Appendix A from Mr Martin Reay for an 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement for the District of Stafford. The 
effect of such an Order, should the application be successful, would: 

(i) Add an alleged public footpath from the junction of FP2, FP3 and FP4, 
Fradswell to Fradswell Church to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way 
under the provisions of Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981. 

(ii) The lines of the alleged public footpath which are the subject of the application 
are shown highlighted and marked A-B-C on the plan attached as Appendix B. 

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

 

 

Local Members’ Interest 

Councillor Ian Parry Stafford – Stone Rural 

Page 119

Agenda Item 6



 Page 2 

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

1. The applicant has submitted in support of his application; 

 Fradswell Tithe Map 

 Stafford District Surveyors of Highways Report Book dated 1899 

 Stafford District Surveyors of Highways Letter Book dated 1900 

 Ordnance Survey map dated 1887 & 1901 

 Ordnance Survey map dated 1836 

 Estate Sale Plan dated 1920 

 Photographs of the path taken January 2015 

 

Documentary Evidence Submitted  

Fradswell Tithe Map 

2.       Tithe maps and apportionments were drawn up following the Tithe Commutation Act    
1836. Tithes were a local payment in kind of one tenth of the produce of land and 
levied for the upkeep of the local church and clergy. 

3. Tithe apportionments are documents recording the land subject to the tithe, the 
names of all tithe owners and their tenants and the rent-charge due on each plot or 
parcel of land. Each plot is given a number relating to it position on an 
accompanying map. Within a township a number of plots would be recorded for 
which no rent-charge was due. These include such features as roads, rivers and 
canals. 

4. The Tithe Map shows where each plot numbered on the apportionment is located.  

5. Tithe maps can be considered persuasive evidence of a route being a highway 
however it cannot be regarded as conclusive evidence. This is because the tithes 
were never intended to be used to determine highway rights, the representation of 
the route on the tithe is evidence that the route was a physical feature on the ground 
when the tithe was drafted. Copy of the Tithe Map can be found at Appendix C.  

Stafford District Surveyors of Highways Report Book & Letter Book 

6. The Highway Act 1835 placed highways under the direction of parish surveyors. 
The surveyor’s duty was to keep the highways in repair and record the maintenance 
as such. 

7. The records were kept in a report book and was occasionally accompanied by a 
letter book. It recorded the work undertaken and from time to time detailed the 
status of the route. 

8. To accept liability for maintenance is not a burden that local authorities would take 
on lightly and so the appearance on either document is a good indication that the 
route is at least a public highway. A copy can be found at Appendix D. 

Ordnance Maps 

9. Ordnance Survey Maps date back to the early 1800’s and their purpose is to show 
physical features on, and the contours of the ground. In doing so they included all 
manner of ways from tracks leading only to remote properties, footpaths crossing 
fields, as well as the main highway. 

10. They do not distinguish between public and private rights of way. From 1888 the 
maps carried a disclaimer that the depiction of a way on map did not mean it was 

Page 120



 Page 3 

 

public. They are evidence only of the physical existence of a way on the ground at 
the date of the survey.  

11. There may be annotations next to some minor routes such as FP or BP however 
they do not indicate whether the way was public or private. Such annotations might 
indicate that the route was only capable of having that type of traffic use but would 
only be supporting evidence and not conclusive. 

12. They do not have any evidential weight but may be supportive of an application by 
showing that there was a physical feature on the ground. On the contrary the 
absence of a feature on the map does not mean it does not exist. Copies can be 
found at Appendix E. 

Estate Sale Plan 

13. These were maps drawn up for the owners of private estates for their own use for 
example in the sale of the land. Some maps are very detailed whilst others are 
limited to broad outlines. 

14. They may provide a physical evidence of a route in a similar manner to OS maps 
but need to be approached with some caution as they were drawn up with a specific 
purpose. 

15. Some estate plans may distinguish between public and private ways.  

16. The evidential value is limited to supporting evidence of the physical existence of a 
way. Where the estate owner has listed a way as public it would add to the 
supporting evidence however it could not be relied upon to prove dedication. A copy 
of the Estate Sale Plan can be found at Appendix F. 

Other evidence discovered by the County Council 

17. Officers have conducted research into historical documentation at the County 
Council’s Record Office. No further evidence was discovered to support or refute the 
alleged route.  

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

18. At the time of the application, Mr and Mrs Dash purchased Fradswell Hall and the 
adjacent field marked A-B on the plan attached at Appendix A approximately 10 
years ago. They completed an owner/occupier evidence form which is attached at 
Appendix G. 

19. They state they were not aware of any route through their property or adjacent 
fields. There is nothing stated on their deeds to the land.  

20. They claim not to have seen anyone using the route and have never given anyone 
permission to use the route. 

21. They state the field has regularly been used for the keeping of livestock and is fully 
fenced and has thick hedgerow surrounding it for this purpose. 

22. They further state that anyone wishing to access the church and churchyard uses 
the entrance gate and drive which is clearly visible and accessible from the road. 

23. They object to the application, they claim the field is steep and muddy and it would 
appear to make sense to use this route to the church when the church has its own 
well-maintained driveway and car park which is clearly marked, fenced and gated. 

24. Milwich with Fradswell Parish Council own the land affected by the claimed route 
marked B-C on the plan attached at Appendix A. The land was transferred from 
Weston with Gayton Parish Council in 2003 as an asset. They completed an 
owner/occupier evidence form which is attached at Appendix H. 

Page 121



 Page 4 

 

25. They state the route has always been recognised as a public right of way and they 
have seen members of the public use the route on foot.  

26. They submitted as evidence a letter from Weston with Gayton parish Council listing 
3 parcels of land which were transferred as an asset to Milwich with Fradswell 
Parish Council. Number 3 in the list details the land as ‘Access footway from Church 
Lane to junction of Footpath No. 2, 3 and 4, Fradswell, acquired pre-1980 and given 
no value’. 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

27. Milwich with Fradswell Parish Council were consulted at the time of the application 
and state they would support the application/they have no objections or comments. 
No evidence was provided to support the claim. 

Comments on Evidence   

Fradswell Tithe Map 

28. The Fradswell Tithe map shows the section from B-C on the plan. The purpose of 
the mapping was not to record public highways, but since the process was part of a 
statutory process under the Tithe Commutation Act 1836, the evidence of public 
rights they contain must be given the appropriate weight.  

29. On their own tithe maps and awards are not evidence as to the public nature of a 
particular route but may add to the supporting evidence. They would not of 
themselves support a modification to the Definitive Map and Statement.  

Stafford District Surveyors of Highways Report Book & Letter Book 

30. The information is only concerned with the maintenance of a route and not its 
status, however in this case the report book states “The road is not more than 70-80 
yards long and leads to the school and also to a public footpath which runs across 
the fields to the church. The Roadman says that it used to be the public highway 
many years ago but was closed just beyond the school when a new road was cut. 
The late Parish Surveyor says he always considered it as one of his roads although 
he never did anything to it”.  

31. The road 70- 80 yards mentioned by the Surveyor supports part B-C on the map. 
Additionally, the public footpath which runs across the fields to the church also 
mentioned by the Surveyor supports A-B.  

Ordnance Survey Maps 

32. The Ordnance Survey Maps all show the route from A-B-C and the old road leading 
up to the school. However, they do not indicate whether the route is public or 
private.  

Estate Sale Plan 

33. The Estate Sale Plan also shows the route from A-B-C and the old road leading to 
the school. Also, this evidence only shows the physical feature of the route and 
does not determine whether the route is public of private.  

34. Since the claimed route ends at the Church yard this could be classed as a cul de 
sac. It is unusual that a public highway simply terminates at a point which leads to 
no particular destination. The usual rule is that it has some purpose even if it is a 
cul-de-sac. It is often to points of interest or even particular properties. In this 
instance there are no properties and the only place of interest in the vicinity is the 
Church. 

35. The courts in Eyre v New Forest Wills J considered the situation in which two 
apparent cul-de-sac are created by reason of uncertainty over the status of a short, 
linking section (in that case a track over a common). He held that, where a short 

Page 122



 Page 5 

 

section of uncertain status exists it can be presumed that its status is that of the two 
highways linked by it. If one follows the line of reasoning in that argument it would 
support the existence of a public right and that it was at least that of footpath. 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

36. In this instance the applicable section of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 is 
section 53(3)(c)(i). This section relates to the discovery of evidence of two separate 
events: 

(a) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map subsists; or 

(b) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map is reasonably 
alleged to subsist. 

37. Thus, there are two separate tests, one of which must be satisfied before a 
Modification Order can be made. To answer either question must involve an 
evaluation of the evidence and a judgement on that evidence.   

38. For the first test to be satisfied, it will be necessary to show that on the balance of 
probabilities the right of way does subsist. 

39. For the second test to be satisfied, the question is whether a reasonable person 
could reasonably allege a right of way exists having considered all the relevant 
evidence available to the Council.  The evidence necessary to establish a right of 
way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must be less than that 
which is necessary to establish the right of way “does subsist”.   

40. If a conclusion is reached that either test is satisfied, then the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be modified. 

 

Summary 

41. The tithe award on itself is not sufficient to support the application, however with 
additional evidence it can be supportive of the route. 

42. The information provided by the letter book is concerned with the maintenance of 
the route. The local authority does not take the liability for the maintenance lightly 
and so to undertake the work and it is documented is a good indication that the 
route is at least public. 

43. The Roadman mentions in the letter book that it used to be a public highway until a 
new road was cut. The road 70-80 yards mentioned by the surveyor supports part 
B-C on the map. Also, the public footpath which runs across the fields to the church 
also mentioned by the surveyor supports A-B. 

44. The Ordnance Survey Maps show the route in its entirety however they only show a 
physical feature on the ground. It does not determine whether the route is public or 
private nor the status of the route. 

45. The Estate Sale Plan may provide physical evidence of a route in a similar way to 
the Ordnance Survey Maps, nonetheless they need to be approached with caution 
has they are drawn up for a specific purpose for the owners of private estates.  

46. There is no mention of the status of the route in the sale plan and so it is limited to 
supporting evidence of the physical existence of the way. 

47. Since the claimed route ends at the Church this could be classed as a cul-de-sac. 
The usual rule is that it has some purpose even if it is a cul-de-sac. It often leads to 
a point of interest, in this instance the only point of interest is the Church.  

Conclusion  

Page 123



 Page 6 

 

48. In light of the evidence, as set out above, it is your officers’ opinion that the 
evidence shows that a public right of way, with the status of a public footpath, 
which is not shown on the map and statement is reasonably alleged to subsist. 

49. It is the opinion of your officers that the County Council should make a 
Modification Order to upgrade the routes to bridleway status on the Definitive Map 
and Statement of Public Rights of Way. 

Recommended Option 

50. To accept the application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 
outlined above. 

Other options Available 

51. To decide to reject the application to add a public footpath. 

Legal Implications 

52. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

Resource and Financial Implications  

53. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

54. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High Court 
for Judicial Review.  

Risk Implications  

55. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act. The Secretary of State 
would appoint an Inspector to consider the matter afresh, including any 
representations or previously unconsidered evidence.  

56. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision and confirm the Order; 
however there is always a risk that an Inspector may decide that the County 
Council should not have made the Order and decide not to confirm it.  If the 
Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it may still 
be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

57. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision under Schedule ?? of the 1981 Act to the Secretary of State who will follow 
a similar process to that outlined above. After consideration by an Inspector the 
County Council could be directed to make an Order.   

58. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk implications.  

Equal Opportunity Implications  

59. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services 

Report Author: Samantha Finney 

Page 124



 Page 7 

 

Ext. No:  

Background File: 009107 

Page 125



 Page 8 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Copy of application and associated 
submitted letters and documents 

Appendix B Plan of claimed route  

Appendix C Fradswell tithe map 

Appendix D Stafford District Surveyors of Highways 
Letter & Report Book  

Appendix E Ordnance Survey Maps 

Appendix F Estate Sale Plan 

Appendix G Owner/occupier evidence form Mr & Mrs 
Dash 

Appendix H Owner/occupier evidence form Milwich with 
Fradswell Parish Council 

 

Page 126



APPENDIX A

Page 127



Page 128



APPENDIX A

Page 129



Page 130



APPENDIX A

Page 131





Page 133





Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2018, Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and
database right 2018. OS 100030994.

© Crown Copyr ight and database rights 2018.
Ordnance Survey  100031282.

2000 Aerial Photography by UKPerspectiv es.com.
License Number  UKP/048/SCC.

2010 Aerial photography copyright Getmapping (2006-10).
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute

or sell any form of this data to th ird parties in any  f orm.
Produced by Staffordshire County  Council 06/12/2018.

Public Rights
of Way

Footpath
Section 53
Parishes

0 0.01 0.02 0.03 0.04 Kilometres

Staffordshire County Council Map

B

A

C

APPENDIX B

P
age 135





APPENDIX C

Page 137





APPENDIX D

Page 139





APPENDIX D

Page 141





APPENDIX D

Page 143





APPENDIX D

Page 145



Page 146



APPENDIX E

Page 147





APPENDIX E

Page 149





APPENDIX F

Page 151



Page 152



APPENDIX G

Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



APPENDIX H

Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



1

Lindop, Jonathan (Corporate)

From: Steven <sj@abram.org.uk>
Sent: 12 May 2015 14:58
To: Murphy, Michael (D,L&T)
Subject: MMU/009701DW

Your ref: MMU/009701DW 
 
Dear Michael, 
 
I have tried to phone you a few time and twice the line was out of action, another time I left a message and never 
received a reply. 
 
Before attempting to complete the form you have sent with regards to the matter in your reference I want to share the 
following and hear your response. 
 
I am Team Vicar of Mid Trent churches and Fradswell church is my responsibility. 
 
There is a gate leading to the alleged footpath and this gate is locked and has no apparent path beyond it. I would 
suggest this was for the benefit of the Rector in the days when he lived at what is now the Old Rectory (residential 
care home) and a short cut for him to go home. Was it a public or private path – I don’t know? The land the other side 
of the fence is not church owned. 
 
Church land is private land but which we allow people to access for such things as church and tending graves. Also, if 
walkers wish to walk in and round, nor problems for us at all. However, there is no right of way and as far as I can see 
this is not claimed in the documentation. 
 
I live in Hixon and am only at the church for specific reasons and not very often and therefore cannot pass any 
sensible comments about people in the vicinity. 
 
In the light of this I am not sure I can give much ‘useful’ information. However, if necessary I will attempt to fill the form 
in as I can. What I write here might suffice and if you want I can transfer this to formal headed paper. 
 
Kind regards 
 

 
 

 
 
Steven Abram, 
Team Vicar, Mid Trent Churches 
 

 
 
Got to Team site below for details 
 
Visit our Team site at: www.midtrentchurches.org.uk 
Visit my site at: www.abram.org.uk 
 

Page 171





1

Lindop, Jonathan (Corporate)

From: lesley_bentley@btopenworld.com
Sent: 19 February 2020 15:43
To: Finney, Samantha (Corporate)
Subject: Your ref 009701DW

Dear Samantha, 
I write in response to your letter of 30.01.2020 to the Rev’d Steve Abram, now retired from his post as Team Vicar in 
the MidTrent Team.  I am replying as Interim Team Rector, having responsibility for St James Fradswell.   
I concur with Steve’s comments of 12.05.2015.  There is a gate in the churchyard fence that would appear to open 
onto the alleged footpath under discussion and a churchyard footpath leading up to it, as marked on Appendix B. 
The gate has a new looking chain placed on it.   As Steve said, the church yard is private land to which people are 
allowed access for such matters as visiting the graves and tending them.  
Thank you for consulting us. 
Best wishes, Lesley  
 
Lesley Bentley 
Interim Team Rector, MidTrent Team, Diocese of Lichfield 
Hands at Work, West Midlands Co-ordinator 
Tel 01889 508066 
 

Page 173





Document is Restricted

Page 175

Agenda Item 9
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 6a, 6b 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 3 December 2019
	4 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application to Add a Byway Open to All Traffic from Harley Thorn Lane to Public Road Leading Underneath A519
	Appendix A
	Appendix B (1)
	Appendix B (2)
	Appendix B (3)
	Appendix C
	Appendix D (1)
	Appendix D (2)
	Appendix D (3)
	Appendix D (4)
	Appendix E
	Appendix F (1)
	Appendix F (2)
	Appendix G
	Appendix H (1)
	Appendix H (2)
	Appendix H (3)
	Appendix H (4)
	Appendix H (5)
	Appendix H (6)
	Appendix H (7)
	Appendix H (8)

	5 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application to Upgrade Public Footpath No. 11 Heaton Parish to Restricted Byway Status
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix C1
	Appendix C2
	Appendix C3
	Appendix D
	Appendix D1
	Appendix D2
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Heaton FP 11 S Finney letter 180220 Word

	6 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 - Application to Add a Public Footpath from the Junction of Footpaths Nos. 2, 3 & 4, Fradswell Parish to Fradswell Church
	Appendix A
	Appendix A1
	Appendix A2
	Appendix A3
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix D1
	Appendix D2
	Appendix D3
	Appendix E
	Appendix E1
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H
	120515 Email from Steven Abram
	190220 Email from Lesley Bentley

	9 Options for Resolution of Issues on Bridleway No. 2 Salt and Enson Parishes

